# Improving Learning Outcomes in Police Academy Training

Dianne Beer-Maxwell, Jon Blum, Timothy Bonadies, Jessica Herbert, and Peggy Schaefer





This project was supported, in whole or in part, by cooperative agreement number 2020-CK-WX-K049 awarded to the International Association of Directors of Law Enforcement Standards and Training (IADLEST) by the U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services. The opinions contained herein are those of the author(s) or contributor(s) and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice. References to specific individuals, agencies, companies, products, or services should not be considered an endorsement by the author(s), the contributor(s), or the U.S. Department of Justice. Rather, the references are illustrations to supplement discussion of the issues.

The internet references cited in this publication were valid as of the date of publication. Given that URLs and websites are in constant flux, neither the author(s), the contributor(s), nor the COPS Office can vouch for their current validity.

This resource was developed under a federal award and may be subject to copyright. The U.S. Department of Justice reserves a royalty-free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use and to authorize others to use this resource for Federal Government purposes. This resource may be freely distributed and used for noncommercial and educational purposes only.

#### Recommended citation:

Beer-Maxwell, Dianne, Jon Blum, Timothy Bonadies, Jessica Herbert, and Peggy Schaefer. 2023. Improving Learning Outcomes in Police Academy Training. Washington, DC: Office of Community Oriented Policing Services.

Published 2023

# Contents

Letter from the Director of the COPS Office ii				
Introduction				
Key Concepts 2				
Integrated curriculum				
Retention interval				
The Study 4				
Questions				
Participants				
Methodology 4				
Findings				
Integration Best Practices				
Best practice 1. Engage				
Best practice 2. Start small				
Best practice 3. Select subject matter areas9				
Best practice 4. Choose a strategy 10				
Best practice 5. Establish working groups10				
Best practice 6. Plan and build connections 11				
Best practice 7. Identify and develop assessment methods				
Best practice 8. Train staff and instructors 12				
Conclusion				
Additional Resources				
References				
About IADLEST				
About the COPS Office				

# Letter from the Director of the COPS Office

#### Colleagues:

An important part of the mission of the Office of Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS Office) is to support the development and testing of innovative policing strategies and provide training and technical assistance to community members, local government leaders, and all levels of law enforcement to develop best practices for the field. In 2020, the International Association of Directors of Law Enforcement Standards and Training (IADLEST) led a COPS Office–funded project to explore content quality, delivery method, and content dosage in academy settings: to identify the best ways to conduct law enforcement academy training, where new recruits have a lot to learn quickly and need to remember it for the rest of their careers.

Specifically, the project studied five U.S. police academies: Baltimore Police Academy; Collin College, Texas, Law Enforcement Academy; State of Nevada Peace Officer Standards and Training (POST) Academy; New Mexico Law Enforcement Academy; and Ulster County, New York, Police Academy. The study aimed to measure and evaluate the effectiveness of various training modalities on recruit knowledge and retention of critical communication skills lesson content. This report describes the study, provides an overview of related literature, outlines findings, and offers recommendations for applying best practices in police academies. It is an important part of the current conversation about the roles and responsibilities of modern law enforcement.

Sincerely,

Hugh T. Clements of.

Hugh T. Clements, Jr. Director Office of Community Oriented Policing Services

# Introduction

When performing official duties, law enforcement officers rely heavily on knowledge and skills learned during basic academy training. Entry-level law enforcement training is typically delivered in topic-centric classes with little or no connection between concepts, despite significant content overlap. For example, an understanding of search and seizure law is applicable across many contexts, including in lessons about motor vehicle stops, arrests, investigation, use of force, and interview and interrogation. Similarly, communication skills are needed across the board to be effective at interviewing people, de-escalating violent situations, and building relationships with the community.

Existing research from other professions recommends integrating or reinforcing foundational and overlapping content consistently to help people retain critical knowledge and skills. The concept of integrating and reinforcing training content consistently has not previously been tested in law enforcement. The Academy Innovations project evaluates the results of reinforcing a critical foundational skill across multiple topics through use of an integrated curriculum in a basic academy setting.

In this guide we will

- 1. introduce and define the concepts of integrated curriculum and retention interval;
- explain a groundbreaking study that examined the effects of integrated curriculum on retention interval in five law enforcement academies;
- 3. present eight best practices for integrating curricula in law enforcement academies.

# **Key Concepts**

### Integrated curriculum

Integrated curriculum generally describes a broad set of innovations that relate, correlate, or combine the content of disciplines typically taught separately (Mohr and Welker 2017). These innovations include the organization of teaching matter to unify previously independent courses (Harden, Sowden, and Dunn 1984), the combination of separate courses into a single unit (Brauer and Ferguson 2015), the bringing together of various curriculum aspects into meaningful association (Shoemaker 1989), and the use of faculty collaboration to develop subject matters that support and supplement one another (Panitz 1997).

Integrating curriculum provides learners with beneficial problem-solving skills, encourages critical thinking, and positively impacts performance on knowledge measurements. Wolfe and Brandt (1998) concluded that participation in an integrated curriculum can result in greater intellectual curiosity, improved attitude toward schooling, and higher achievement in college. Similarly, Snyder (2001) stated that integrated curriculum units encourage students to develop a deeper understanding and critical thinking through comparing and contrasting ideas. Tarr et al. (2013) evaluated the effects of an integrated mathematics curriculum and found that students who participated in the integrated curriculum significantly outperformed others on a test of problem-solving and concepts. Overall, the literature suggests that blending content to connect concepts and skills among topics and areas can advance problem solving, systems thinking, and innovation (Loepp 1999; Kysilka 1998; Meadows 2008).

### **Retention interval**

Retention interval refers to the period between an individual's exposure to information and their being tested for retention of that information. Long retention intervals produce worse performance than short retention intervals, with the longer delays between information acquisition and retrieval enabling interference and forgetting (Driskell, Willis, and Copper Integrating curriculum provides learners with beneficial problem-solving skills, encourages critical thinking, and positively impacts performance on knowledge measurements.

1992). This effect is supported by various experiments testing the effect of interval length on skill sustainment. For example, Schendel and Hagman (1980) assessed whether the long-term retention of procedural skills depended on how periodic refresher training sessions were scheduled. Using a learned skill, the disassembly of the M60 machine gun, Schendel and Hagman employed a control group where initial training continued until each soldier achieved an errorless performance, a massed sessions (MS) group where initial training was extended 100 percent beyond criterion performance, and a spaced sessions (SS) group where 100 percent overtraining trials were provided midway through the retention interval. The authors found that participants in both experimental groups outperformed the control group, demonstrating 65 percent (MS) and 57 percent (SS) fewer errors.

The literature indicates interval length impacts skill sustainment (Schendel and Hagman 1980; Goldberg, Drillings, and Dressel 1981; Van Dusen and Schlosberg 1948; Leonard, Wheaton, and Cohen 1976; Cotterman and Wood 1967). For example, Leonard, Wheaton, and Cohen (1976) studied skill retention in six groups of Army members by measuring performance of a learned skill immediately upon training (group 3), six weeks after initial training (group 1), 17 weeks after initial training (group 2), six weeks after refresher training (group 5), and 17 weeks after refresher training (group 6) and comparing these results to an untrained control group (group 4). They concluded that longer retention intervals were associated with poorer performance, while refresher training improved performance on some but not all tasks compared to those who did not have the refresher training.

The literature also suggested that long retention intervals produce worse performance than short retention intervals with respect to knowledge sustainment, particularly of recall-related information (Semb, Ellis, and Araujo 1993; Semb and Ellis 1994; Halpin and Halpin 1982; Glasnapp, Poggio, and Ory 1978). In a meta-analysis of 56 knowledge retention studies, Semb and Ellis (1994) observed that knowledge type significantly impacted retention; specifically, they found that more than 70 percent of recognition studies showed loss scores of less than 20 percent, while only half of recall studies showed loss scores below 20 percent, suggesting better retention for recognition task types than for recall task types.

The concepts of integrated curriculum and retention interval are critical to this study. The study applied an integrated curriculum within a defined retention interval to evaluate whether integrated content delivered at predictable times improved knowledge. Based on the broad definitions of "integrated curriculum" presented in the literature, the study employed a type of integration called fusion, which describes the injection of select themes and subject matter areas into an existing curriculum (Drake and Reid 2018). This fused content was delivered within a set retention interval, which enabled the study to examine participants' ability to retain study information for a defined time.

# The Study

The study started with the premise that police academy training provides the foundational content and tactics that officers will use throughout their careers. Recruits are expected to absorb critical information and retain it indefinitely. It is common for officers involved in serious situations to be held responsible for information they learned during their police academy experience many years earlier.

Recruits' ability to retain all the material in these basic training courses—ranging from 400 to more than 1,000 hours, depending on the state—is a genuine concern for academy directors, police administrators, other officers, and the community. Because the curriculum is so condensed and there is a genuine agency need to deploy officers on the street as quickly as possible, most academies have relied on a traditional siloed lecture-style delivery despite concerns that this method may not be the most effective way to teach adults. It is critical to understand how instructional methodology impacts recruits' ability to retain information.

### Questions

The study sought to answer two questions:

- Does knowledge improve if recruits are exposed to integrated content at predictable intervals at the basic academy level?
- 2. Does integrated content delivered online, rather than in-person, impact knowledge at the basic academy level?

### **Participants**

The study's participants came from five police academies in the United States, including two state academies, two community college academies, and one municipal academy.

- 1. Baltimore (Maryland) Police Academy
- 2. Collin College (Texas) Law Enforcement Academy

- 3. New Mexico Law Enforcement Academy
- 4. State of Nevada Peace Officer Standards and Training (POST) Academy
- 5. Ulster County (New York) Police Academy

Participant academies were chosen based on geographical diversity, anticipated class size, existing communications-related curriculum, and interest.

### Methodology

The Academy Innovations project was a randomized control trial (RCT) that examined participants' retention of knowledge on a baseline law enforcement communications curriculum. The 152 participants were randomly assigned to four groups:

- 1. **In-person traditional.** Participants received only baseline communication skills content via traditional in-person lecture delivery.
- 2. Online traditional. Participants received only baseline communication skills content via traditional online delivery.
- 3. In-person integrated. Participants received baseline communication skills content and supplemental lessons via in-person integrated curriculum delivery.
- 4. **Online integrated.** Participants received baseline communication skills content and supplemental lessons via online integrated curriculum delivery.

In-person and online **traditional** groups only received an initial baseline communication skills training with no supplemental lessons, simulating a traditional siloed instructional method.

In-person and online **integrated** groups received supplemental lessons in an integrated method. These supplemental lessons reviewed previously presented content, applied that content in the context of responding to a person in crisis and a motor vehicle stop respectively, and provided opportunity for students to practice learned concepts.

The baseline communication skill training and supplemental integrated lesson on communication skills in the context of responding to persons in crisis and communication skills in the context of motor vehicle stops are available on the Academy Innovations project web page (<u>https://www.iadlest.org/our-services/</u> academy-innovations).

All groups completed a pre-test on communications skills and then received baseline training on a law enforcement communications curriculum (wave 1).

Approximately 30 days after the completion of the baseline communications training, **in-person integrated** and **online integrated groups** received a supplemental lesson focused on applying communication skills from the baseline training in the context of responding to a person in crisis. All groups (traditional and integrated) were then tested on retention of concepts from the initial baseline communications skills lesson (wave 2). Approximately 60 days after the completion of the baseline communications training, **in-person integrated** and **online integrated** groups received a supplemental lesson focused on applying communication skills from the baseline training in the context of motor vehicle stops. All groups were then tested on retention of concepts from the initial baseline communications skills lesson (wave 3).

Approximately 90 days after the completion of the baseline communications training, all groups were tested on retention of concepts from the initial baseline communications skills lesson (wave 4).

Table 1 documents the RCT's design.

#### **Findings**

Results showed that in-person and online groups that received integrated content performed better on written tests than in-person and online groups that received content via traditional lecture. In addition, in-person and online integrated groups demonstrated continual knowledge retention and gain, with the in-person integrated group performing higher than all other groups throughout the experiment and the



#### Table 1. Academy Innovations experimental design

online integrated group demonstrating continued material retention. Conversely, in-person and online groups that received a traditional lecture demonstrated a significant decline in knowledge retention over time. In both settings, traditional groups performed highest immediately following the delivery of lesson content, and performance declined as the interval between lesson content delivery and testing increased. Table 2 documents median percentage scores per test, with wave 1 representing pre-test performance, wave 2 representing performance immediately following initial instruction, and waves 3 and 4 representing performance at 30 and 60 days post-instruction. Note that traditional in-person and online recruits had lower average scores on wave 4 than on wave 2.

Figure 1 documents the average group performance using a post-stratification weighted sample over time.

Overall, the application of integrated content appeared to impact average performance more significantly than how the content was delivered (online vs. in-person). Because of the design of the experiment, online and in-person results could not

Group	Wave 1 (pre-test) %	Wave 2 (post-test) %	Wave 3 (post-test + 30 days) %	Wave 4 (post-test + 60 days) %
In-person traditional	47.2	64.2	60.4	51.5
Online traditional	40.5	53.8	54.1	39.4
In-person integrated	42.7	64.4	72.6	72.9
Online integrated	40.4	53.6	59.8	63.8

#### Table 2. Median scores per test





easily be compared on their own. However, with both in-person and online integrated groups outperforming both in-person and online traditional groups, results suggest integration positively impacted retention irrespective of delivery type. From wave 2 to wave 4, in-person integrated median scores improved from 64.4 percent to 72.9 percent, while online integrated median scores improved from 53.6 percent to 63.8 percent. Conversely, median scores for both in-person and online traditional deliveries decreased from wave 2 to wave 4, with in-person scores declining from 64.2 percent to 51.5 percent and online scores declining from 53.8 percent to 39.4 percent. These results indicate that integrated groups gained knowledge over time, while groups that received a traditional lecture and no additional integrated content lost significant knowledge during the experimental interval.

Study results suggest two clear implications for the field.

 Integrated curriculum approaches enhance a recruit's ability to learn and retain information, regardless of delivery method. In-person and online groups that received an initial lesson and additional integrated content performed better than in-person and online groups that did not receive integrated content. In addition, both groups that received integrated content Recruits receiving integrated content performed better than recruits who received content only once, regardless of whether they received content in-person or online.

demonstrated continual knowledge retention compared to groups that received only an initial lesson. These results suggest that an integrated curriculum helps recruits learn and retain more of that information through time. Basic police academies instruct recruits on dozens of topics over a multi-month time frame. Incorporating curriculum integration into this experience will likely improve recruits' ability to learn and remember the materials they are taught. With much of the academy experience devoted to high-risk content-including search and seizure, firearms usage, and patrol techniquesincreasing recruits' ability to learn and retain information will improve understanding and recall of critical content recruits and new officers need to operate safely and effectively.

"Like everyone else, we have traditionally offered blocks of instruction. To some extent, it is inevitable. But it's also true that we want recruits to remember in week 30 what they learned in week 2, and not just remember it, but be able to recognize when it is applicable, and then actually apply it correctly. Just hoping that will happen isn't good enough. Unless we integrate topics and themes and reinforce them periodically throughout the academy, we aren't preparing new officers as well as we should."

> — Gary Cordner, Academic Director, Baltimore Police Department

2. Traditional instructional methods may not ensure recruit knowledge upon graduation. Groups that only received the initial lesson without subsequent integrated content, a traditional instructional method used in many basic police academy curriculums, demonstrated declining knowledge retention over time. In both an in-person and an online setting, traditional groups had their best results within weeks of lesson content delivery. However, performance generally declined as the interval between lesson content delivery and test increased. For traditional in-person and online recruits, this decline resulted in lower average scores in wave 4 than in wave 1. While scores of recruits who received integrated content increased as the distance between lesson content delivery

Traditional instruction . . . demonstrated declining knowledge retention over time.

and test increased, in-person traditional student median scores decreased by 19.8 percent, and online traditional median scores decreased by 26.8 percent in the same interval. This decline has significant implications for police training, especially during the academy and field training officer (FTO) stages. With academies requiring hundreds of training hours throughout multiple months, providing traditional, nonintegrated content significantly increases the likelihood that recruits will not retain learned material from their academy experience. For traditional participants, this trial demonstrated a significant knowledge loss in one subject during a 90-day period. As the typical basic academy students are exposed to dozens of subject matter areas in a multimonth training process, study results suggest these recruits' ability to retain this information decreases as the time from content delivery increases. This trend likely continues following graduation, which suggests that students who participate in a traditionally instructed basic academy may not be able to retain significant amounts of basic academy training through the lengthy basic academy and FTO process necessary to produce a fully functional law enforcement officer.

# **Integration Best Practices**

The findings from the study support a growing knowledge base of integration learning theory and application. In addition, this study has shown for the first time in a police academy setting that integration strategies can increase knowledge retention and improve curricula. As a result, several academies that participated in the study have begun working toward integrating their curricula. However, integrating a curriculum requires time and planning, and the following best practices can assist in academy integration efforts.

### Best practice I.

#### Engage

Integrating a curriculum will require input, participation, and support from key stakeholders like academy staff members, instructors, POST boards and other oversight entities, and FTOs. Therefore, when implementing an integration strategy, first engage with key staff members and other stakeholders. Next, articulate the benefits of an integrated curriculum, identify how integration can support existing POST or other oversight body requirements, and gain buy-in before moving forward.

### Best practice 2. Start small

Integrating an entire curriculum will be time- and labor-intensive. Your academy may not have the staff, infrastructure, or facilities to integrate fully. Consider limiting integration to only a particular subject matter area or portion of a curriculum. Starting small and considering infrastructure, staffing, development of time requirements, and stress on staff will help implement gradual change and ensure your team is not overwhelmed with an integration project they are not ready to execute.

### **Best practice 3.** Select subject matter areas

Select subject matter areas for integration. Subject matter areas and concepts that should be included in every lesson are great candidates for integration. Some common subject matter areas that are applicable throughout a basic police academy curriculum include the following:

- Communication skills
- Community engagement
- Decision-making
- Ethics
- Law
- Peer intervention
- Problem solving
- Report writing

Selecting subjects like these and other core skills or processes that contribute to policing approaches makes integrating the subject or skill easier throughout an entire curriculum.

#### Best practice 4.

#### **Choose a strategy**

Next, choose an integration strategy. Identify which of the following you want to do:

 Combine once separate courses into a single unit. You can combine separate courses by identifying overlapping concepts and ideas and building units of study based on these shared items.

For example, controlled substances, law, and patrol techniques are often taught separately. Combining these courses into a single unit would result in a controlled substances lesson that introduces and defines controlled substances, discusses patrol and investigative strategies related to controlled substances cases, and examines specific laws relevant to controlled substances investigations.

 Make connections between previously separated content. This process is often called "fusion;" you can make connections between previously separated content by adding themes and new subject matter into existing curriculum.

For example, you can "fuse" ethics content into multiple subject matter areas by including topic-specific ethical dilemmas in lesson plans. This could result in an interview-focused ethical dilemma during interview and interrogation lesson delivery, a communication-focused dilemma during patrol procedures or motor vehicle stops, and other context-appropriate dilemmas throughout a curriculum.

• Ensure instructor collaboration so their subject matter areas support one another and integrated or overlapping content is delivered consistently. You can ensure collaboration by ensuring that teachers responsible for different courses consult and communicate together.

For example, plan and host instructor meetings before content delivery. Emphasize connections between instructors who deliver complementary or integrated content, such as ensuring instructors who teach introductory communications skills can discuss key concepts with team members supervising interview, patrol procedure, and motor vehicle stop content where students will apply these communications concepts. Collaboration between instructors will ensure concepts are taught and reinforced consistently over time.

Evaluate staff, resources, curriculum, and assessment strategies before determining the best integration strategy. Also, recognize that type and level of integration may differ between subject matter areas within a curriculum.

For example, choosing Peer Intervention as a subject matter area for integration and specifying that the integration effort will focus on making connections between previously separated content could allow you to integrate by delivering an initial active bystandership lesson and then including applicable scenarios in all subsequent lesson plans. Scenarios should be subject matterspecific (e.g., a peer intervention dilemma faced when assisting a person in crisis call) and provide recruits with multiple opportunities to apply principles in context-appropriate situations.

### **Best practice 5.** Establish working groups

Successfully integrating subject matter requires collaboration between the instructors who build, deliver, and maintain the curriculum. To facilitate information sharing and gain support from staff and instructors, establish working groups and use these groups to lead integration efforts. Consider establishing groups by subject matter area. For example, when integrating "Ethics" throughout a curriculum, the working group should be staffed by instructors who deliver ethics-related content and instructors who deliver subject matter areas where ethical dilemmas or other ethics-related content could be integrated.

### Best practice 6. Plan and build connections

Assign working groups to identify and develop connections between subject matter areas. Create charts or diagrams that show common goals, skills, or objectives shared by subject matter areas, and highlight specific locations within lessons where integrated content could reside.

Ensure content is consistent when integrated throughout a curriculum. Use the same concepts, terms, models, and definitions, and create opportunities for recruits to use these concepts in subject matter– specific ways throughout the curriculum. Figure 2 documents a simple integration diagram for communication skills content. An integration diagram aims to identify topic areas that can be reinforced throughout an academy. Figure 2 lists the main topics delivered during an initial communication skills lesson and highlights areas that can be reinforced during future lessons. To integrate communication skills throughout the academy, instructors can reinforce these highlighted skills by presenting them in the context of interviews, motor vehicle stops, and arrest techniques. In addition, practical exercises in the related content areas should include evaluating the application of communication skills.

#### Figure 2. Integration diagram—communication skills



in interviews, vehicle stops, and arrests

Improving Learning Outcomes in Police Academy Training

### Best practice 7.

# Identify and develop assessment methods

"The success of integrated curriculum depends on the implementation of integrated assessment. Having a mismatch between teaching/learning strategies and assessment methodologies is an effective recipe for failure of implementation of any curriculum." (Malik and Malik 2011, 103)

Develop testing and assessment methods that evaluate recruit understanding, interpretation, and decision-making skills. Rely on working groups to develop written questions and practical application exercises that evaluate all aspects of an integrated curriculum. For example, integrating "Decision-Making" throughout a curriculum requires developing and using test questions and scenarios with decisionmaking components for use in multiple instructional areas. In practice, this means that some test questions and practical application exercises in handcuffing, defensive tactics, motor vehicle stops, and other disciplines must force recruits to apply decisionmaking principles while demonstrating subject matter-specific knowledge or proficiency.

### Best practice 8. Train staff and instructors

For an integrated curriculum to be effective, staff and instructors must understand the benefits of integration and be aware of their specific roles and responsibilities. For many instructors, this requirement means they must be familiar with multiple lessons outside their specific instructional blocks and be prepared to teach integrated curriculum components.

For example, suppose "Ethics" is an integrated subject matter area. In that case, the Motor Vehicle Stops instructor must be familiar with foundational ethics content and prepared to reinforce and evaluate this content in the specific context of a motor vehicle stop. Of course, this reinforcement may already be happening informally among instructors at your academy; however, assigning staff and instructors to specific working groups to identify and develop integrated content and then providing training to ensure all members know their roles in delivering integrated content will dramatically increase the integrated curriculum's effectiveness.

## Conclusion

"We immediately came back and started looking at our curriculum.... We've applied for a state grant to try to bring in some subject matter experts to help us fully integrate our academy curriculum. We have a tendency to look at our schedule and not always present courses in the correct order or a building block-type presentation order, and often one particular topic won't always relate to previous topics. So we did very much appreciate the information shared with us, and we looked at our curriculum and said, 'Hey, we could be doing this better.'"

> Chris Carter, Deputy Director, Nevada Peace Officers Standards and Training

The purpose of the basic police academy is to prepare recruits for duty as law enforcement officers. The results of the Academy Innovations project suggest that integration as an instructional methodology could increase a recruit's ability to learn and retain information, and academy staff should consider integrating their content to better prepare officers for duty. Participation in an integrated curriculum resulted in higher performance and continued knowledge retention than traditional instruction. However, with traditional instructional approaches likely forming the basis of most police academy training, project results demonstrating median score declines of 19.8 percent (in-person traditional) and 26.8 percent (online traditional) during the experimental interval suggest that current academy training may not be fully optimized for recruit learning and retention. Police academies have the shared goal of producing competent and qualified officers through education and training, but the Academy Innovations study suggests that the current instructional model used by many academies is not the best strategy to achieve that goal. The best practices in this report provide academy staff and leadership with foundational integration knowledge; employing these practices will develop a more integrated and effective academy curriculum.

# **Additional Resources**

Academy Innovations project web page (including Communication Skills, Persons in Crisis Communication Skills, and Motor Vehicle Stops Communication Skills curricula) https://www.iadlest.org/our-services/academy-innovations

Academy Innovations References and Resources <u>https://www.iadlest.org/Portals/0/Files/Documents/Academy%20Innovations/</u> <u>Grouped%20References.pdf</u>

# References

- Brauer, David G., and Kristi J. Ferguson. 2015. "The Integrated Curriculum in Medical Education: AMEE Guide No. 96." *Medical Teacher* 37(4): 312–322. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2014.970998.
- Cotterman, Theodore E., and Milton E. Wood. 1967. Retention of Simulated Lunar Landing Mission Skill: A Test of Pilot Reliability. AMRL-TR-66-222. Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio: Aerospace Medical Research Laboratories. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/AD0817232.
- Drake, Susan M., and Joanne Louise Reid. 2018. "Integrated Curriculum as an Effective Way to Teach 21st Century Capabilities." Asia Pacific Journal of Educational Research 1(1): 31–50. https://doi.org/10.30777/APJER.2018.1.1.03.
- Driskell, James E., Ruth P. Willis, and Carolyn Copper. 1992. "Effect of Overlearning on Retention." Journal of Applied Psychology 77(5): 615–622. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0021-9010.77.5.615.
- Fogarty, Robin. 1991. How to Integrate the Curricula. The Mindful School. Palatine, IL: Skylight Professional Development.
- Glasnapp, Douglas R., John P. Poggio, and John C. Ory. 1978. "End-of-Course and Long-Term Retention Outcomes for Mastery and Nonmastery Learning Paradigms." *Psychology in the Schools* 15(4): 595–603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/</u> 1520-6807(197810)15:4%3C595::AID-PITS2310150426%3E3.0.CO;2-4.
- Goldberg, Stephen L., Michael Drillings, and J. Douglas Dressel. 1981. Mastery Training: Effect on Skill Retention. Technical Report 513. Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA120762.
- Halpin, Glenelle, and Gerald Halpin. 1982. "Experimental Investigation on the Effects of Study and Testing on Student Learning, Retention, and Ratings of Instruction." Journal of Educational Psychology 74(1): 32–38. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-0663.74.1.32.
- Harden, R.M., Susette Sowden, and W.R. Dunn. 1984. "Educational Strategies in Curriculum Development: The SPICES Model." *Medical Education* 18(4): 284–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2923.1984.tb01024.x</u>.
- Harden, Ronald M. 2000. "The Integration Ladder: A Tool for Curriculum Planning and Evaluation." *Medical Education* 34(7): 551–557. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2923.2000.00697.x</u>.
- Hariton, Eduardo, and Joseph J. Locascio. 2018. "Randomised Controlled Trials the Gold Standard for Effectiveness Research." BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 125(13): 1716. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15199.

Improving Learning Outcomes in Police Academy Training

- Harrell, Pamela Esprívalo. 2010. "Teaching an Integrated Science Curriculum: Linking Teacher Knowledge and Teaching Assignments." *Issues in Teacher Education* 19(1): 145–165. https://www.itejournal.org/wp-content/pdfs-issues/spring-2010/16harrell.pdf.
- Kalton, Graham, and Ismael Flores-Cervantes. 2003. "Weighting Methods." Journal of Official Statistics 19(2): 81–97. <u>https://www.scb.se/contentassets/</u> ca21efb41fee47d293bbee5bf7be7fb3/weighting-methods.pdf.
- Kysilka, Marcella L. 1998. "Understanding Integrated Curriculum." The Curriculum Journal 9(2): 197–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/0958517970090206.
- Leonard, Russell L. Jr., George R. Wheaton, and Frances P. Cohen. 1976. Transfer of Training and Skill Retention. (TR-76-A3). Washington, DC: American Institute for Research. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA036059.
- Loepp, Franzie L. 1999. "Models of Curriculum Integration." The Journal of Technology Studies 25(2): 21–25. https://doi.org/10.21061/jots.v25i2.a.6.
- Malik, Alam Sher, and Rukhsana Hussain Malik. 2011. "Twelve Tips for Developing an Integrated Curriculum." *Medical Teacher* 33(2): 99–104. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2010.507711.
- Meadows, Donella H. 2008. *Thinking in Systems*. White River Junction, VT: Chelsea Green Publishing Co.
- Mohr, Kimberly, and Robert W. Welker. 2017. The Role of Integrated Curriculum in the 21st Century School. D.Ed. dissertation, University of Missouri–St. Louis. https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation/688.
- Panitz, Beth. 1997. "The Integrated Curriculum." ASEE Prism 7(1): 24–29. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24156148.
- Potts, Jason. 2020. "Incorporating Evidence-Based Approaches in Policing Practice." The American Society of Evidence-Based Policing. Last modified December 8, 2020. https://americansebp.org/blog/incorporating-evidencebased-approaches-in-policing-practice.
- Schendel, Joel D., and Joseph D. Hagman. 1980. On Sustaining Procedural Skills over Prolonged Retention Intervals. Research Report 1298. Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA120758.
- Semb, George B., John A. Ellis, and John Araujo. 1993. "Long-Term Memory for Knowledge Learned in School." Journal of Educational Psychology 85(2): 305–316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.85.2.305</u>.
- Semb, George B., and John A. Ellis. 1994. "Knowledge Taught in School: What Is Remembered?" Review of Educational Research 64(2): 253–286. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543064002253.

- Sherman, Lawrence W. 1998. Evidence-Based Policing. Washington, DC: National Policing Institute. https://www.policinginstitute.org/publication/evidence-based-policing/.
- Sherman, Lawrence W. 2015. "A Tipping Point for 'Totally Evidenced Policing:' Ten Ideas for Building an Evidence-Based Police Agency." International Criminal Justice Review 25(1): 11–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/1057567715574372.
- Shoemaker, Betty Jean Eklund. 1989. "Integrative Education: A Curriculum for the Twenty-First Century." OSSC Bulletin 33(2). https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED311602.
- Snyder, Sue. 2001. "Connection, Correlation, and Integration." *Music Educators Journal* 87(5): 32–70. https://doi.org/10.2307/3399706.
- Tarr, James E., Douglas A. Grouws, Oscar Chávez, and Victor M. Soria. 2013. "The Effects of Content Organization and Curriculum Implementation on Students' Mathematics Learning in Second-Year High School Courses." *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education* 44(4): 683–729. https://doi.org/10.5951/jresematheduc.44.4.0683.
- Van Dusen, Frances, and Harold Schlosberg. 1948. "Further Study of the Retention of Verbal and Motor Skills." Journal of Experimental Psychology 38(5): 526–534. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/h0053514.
- Wolfe, Pat, and Ron Brandt. 1998. "What Do We Know from Brain Research?" Educational Leadership 56(3): 8–13. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/what-do-we-know-from-brain-research.

# **About IADLEST**

The mission of the International Association of Directors of Law Enforcement Standards and Training (IADLEST) is to support the innovative development of professional standards in public safety through research, development, collaboration, and sharing of information to assist states and international partners with establishing effective and defensible standards for the employment and training of public safety personnel.

We are a nonprofit organization dedicated to transforming policing by promoting excellence in training and professional standards. Our membership comprises key leaders in law enforcement training, including the Peace Officer Standards and Training (POST) Directors of every state in the United States, as well as state and local training academy directors. With these two influential groups, we directly impact 664 basic law enforcement training academies and approximately 900,000 police and correctional officers in the country. Because we believe in learning from and sharing our experiences with other countries, we are proud to have international members and thus have a worldwide perspective and dialogue regarding public safety standards and training.

Learn more about IADLEST and our services at https://www.iadlest.org.

# **About the COPS Office**

The **Office of Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS Office)** is the component of the U.S. Department of Justice responsible for advancing the practice of community policing by the nation's state, local, territorial, and tribal law enforcement agencies through information and grant resources.

Community policing begins with a commitment to building trust and mutual respect between police and communities. It supports public safety by encouraging all stakeholders to work together to address our nation's crime challenges. When police and communities collaborate, they more effectively address underlying issues, change negative behavioral patterns, and allocate resources.

Rather than simply responding to crime, community policing focuses on preventing it through strategic problem-solving approaches based on collaboration. The COPS Office awards grants to hire community policing officers and support the development and testing of innovative policing strategies. COPS Office funding also provides training and technical assistance to community members and local government leaders, as well as all levels of law enforcement.

Since 1994, the COPS Office has been appropriated more than \$20 billion to add community policing officers to the nation's streets, enhance crime fighting technology, support crime prevention initiatives, and provide training and technical assistance to help advance community policing. Other achievements include the following:

- To date, the COPS Office has funded the hiring of approximately 136,000 additional officers by more than 13,000 of the nation's 18,000 law enforcement agencies in both small and large jurisdictions.
- More than 800,000 law enforcement personnel, community members, and government leaders have been trained through COPS Office–funded training organizations and the COPS Training Portal.
- Almost 800 agencies have received customized advice and peer-led technical assistance through the COPS Office Collaborative Reform Initiative Technical Assistance Center.
- To date, the COPS Office has distributed more than eight million topic-specific publications, training curricula, white papers, and resource CDs and flash drives.

The COPS Office also sponsors conferences, roundtables, and other forums focused on issues critical to law enforcement. COPS Office information resources, covering a wide range of community policing topics such as school and campus safety, violent crime, and officer safety and wellness, can be downloaded via the COPS Office's home page, <a href="https://cops.usdoj.gov">https://cops.usdoj.gov</a>.

Recruits' ability to learn and retain material presented during and after basic police academy is a genuine concern for academy directors, police administrators, recruits, officers, and the community. Because much information is delivered relatively quickly, police training professionals must understand and employ instructional delivery methodologies that help recruits learn and retain information.

This report describes the results of the Academy Innovations project, a COPS Officesupported initiative aimed at studying ways to improve the methodology for delivering basic police training content. Led by the International Association of Directors of Law Enforcement Standards and Training (IADLEST), the project conducted a randomized controlled trial (RCT) in five U.S. police academies to determine if students who participated in an in-person or online integrated curriculum performed better than those who participated in a traditional in-person or online lecture.

The report briefly reviews the literature on integrated curricula and retention intervals, discusses implications for the field, and provides eight best practices to guide the implementation of integrated curriculum elements in the police academy.



U.S. Department of Justice Office of Community Oriented Policing Services 145 N Street NE Washington, DC 20530

To obtain details about COPS Office programs, call the COPS Office Response Center at 800-421-6770.

Visit the COPS Office online at cops.usdoj.gov.